1952

# R. M. Scoville v. Kellogg Sales Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action on a contract seeking to recover certain bonus payments claimed by the appellant for the year 1949 while the appellant was employed by respondent. The case was tried in the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. Trial was before a Judge and jury. The trial Judge granted certain of the respondent's motions to strike certain testimony on the ground that it violates the Parol Evidence Rule (R. 87), and certain other testimony on the ground that the witness, Leslie Carl Borsum had no authority to bind the Kellogg Sales Company (R. 87). The trial Judge then di-



rected a verdict and judgment was entered thereon on the 8th day of February, 1952 (R. 93). Notice of appeal was filed March 5, 1952 (R. 94). Designation of record on appeal was filed March 5, 1952 (R. 95), and an order extending the time for filing the record on appeal to the 21st day of April, 1952 was entered on the 11th day of April, 1952 (R. 97).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, Mr. R. M. Scoville, 65 years of age in April 1952 (R. 13), of Salt Lake City, Utah, was employed by the respondent, Kellogg Sales Company, as a salesman and serviceman on August 15, 1944 (R. 13). For convenience and clarity the appellant will hereinafter be referred to as Mr. Scoville and the respondent will hereinafter be referred to as the Company. At that time his territory included the State of Nebraska and Kansas (R. 13). In July of 1946 Mr. Scoville was transferred to Battle Creek, Michigan (R. 13) where he conducted fur feed business for the Company. In March of 1947 Mr. Scoville was transferred to the western territory for the purpose of conducting fur feed business for the Company (R. 14). This territory consisted of that area from Denver to the west coast of the United States (R. 14). At this time Mr. Scoville was paid a salary, given expenses and furnished an automobile (R. 14). In April of 1947, Mrs. Tena Jensen, the Production Manager of the Company's Omaha plant, requested Mr. Scoville to undertake to sell turkey feed produced by the Companys' plant in Omaha, Nebraska (R. 17).

The Company sells turkey feed under a plan known as a turkey finance program (R. 57). The Company furnished Mr. Scoville and the dealers with contract forms (R. 57). Under the terms of this agreement the Company agreed to finance the feed for turkeys raised by the farmers. Estimates of the consumers need for feed would be set out in the contract (R. 59). In the fall of the year the jobbers handling the feed would have the contract forms. The dealers would then get the farmers to sign the contracts (R. 58). After these contracts were signed by the farmers they were then sent to Mr. Williams, an employee of the Company (R. 24), at Omaha (R. 58). After the contracts were approved by the Company's Omaha office, a copy of the contract was then sent to Mr. Scoville (R. 58). The farmers generally used more than the estimates contained in the contracts (R. 59). Of the farmers entering into the contracts, very few terminated or cancelled the contracts (R. 59). As the turkey growing season progressed the dealer or Mr. Scoville would notify the Omaha plant how much feed to ship at a given time (R. 60). At the time this feed was shipped by the Omaha plant a copy of the invoice was sent to Mr. Scoville (R. 60), and from these invoices the tonnages were figured by Mr. Scoville (R. 60). The feed was shipped to the jobber or sub-dealers and the jobber or sub-dealer would then deliver to the farmers (R. 59). All of the contracts were written and signed by the 1st of July, 1949 (R. 81). The last contract accepted on turkey feed by July 1, 1949 (R. 81).

During the year 1947, Mr. Scoville sold approxi-

mately 100 cars of turkey feed, averaging 30 tons per car (R. 17). In the last part of January, 1948, Mr. Scoville was advised that he would receive a bonus of \$2.00 a ton on all protein feed sold in the territory (R. 14). This notification consisted of a bulletin which was introduced and admitted (R. 16) as appellant's Exhibit A, which is Bulletin 148-3, dated January 29, 1948, and initialed by W. H. Williams, Jr., Sales Manager, Mixed Feed Department, Omaha Plant (R. 14). For the year 1948 appellant did not receive any bonus under this arrangement (R. 18). The reason for not receiving any bonus being that Mr. Scoville's expenses had used up practically all of his bonus and he was building for another year during the year 1948 (R. 18).

During the fall of 1948 the respondent started talking about the 1949 contracts with the farmers (R. 20). This discussion of the 1949 contracts was started as soon as the dressing of the 1948 turkeys was commenced. When the 1949 contracts were sold in the fall of the year 1948, they were added to the next year's business. Contracts for the sale of turkey feed were written from the fall of 1948 until June or July of 1949 (R. 20).

After receipt of Bulletin 148-3, appellant's Exhibit A, Mr. Scoville worked longer hours, worked Saturdays and Sundays (R. 71) and increased the accounts (R. 70) and the supply of feed that was shipped to the western territory (R. 71). In 1948 when the business became quite large, Mrs. Scoville, wife of the appellant, accompanied Mr. Scoville at all times and kept all the records

with respect to the conduct of the business (R. 76).

On November 4, 1948, Mr. Leslie Carl Borsum, Sales Manager for the United States for the Company (R. 21) and Mrs. Scoville had breakfast together. The conversation which took place was such that a reasonable inference could be drawn that the bonus plan for 1949 would be the same as that for 1948 (R. 23-24, 77-78).

On April 16, 1949, while Mr. Scoville, Mr. L. C. Borsum and Mr. W. H. Williams, an employee of the Kellogg Sales Company (R. 24), were attending a sales meeting (R. 24) in Omaha, Nebraska, these gentlemen and Mrs. Scoville met in Mr. Scoville's hotel room. At that time there was some conversation about the number of contracts for that year, the amount of feed that it would take to fill the amount of the contracts, and whether or not the Company could make that amount of feed (R. 25). This conversation took place before the regular sales meeting (R. 25). At this time there was a conversation from which the only reasonable inference that can be drawn is that the 1949 bonus would be computed at the same rate as the 1948 bonus was computed, i.e., a \$2.00 per ton bonus.

During late July or early August, 1949, at a sales meeting in Omaha, Nebraska, Mr. Scoville had a conversation with Mr. Borsum from which the only inference that may be drawn is that the bonus of \$2.00 per ton of feed would be paid on the sales made by Mr. Scoville for the year 1949 (R. 27).

On July 24, 1949, Mr. Scoville wrote a letter to Mr. Borsum (which was admitted as the Company's Exhibit

10), from which an inference may be drawn that Mr. Borsum had written to Mr. Scoville with respect to a bonus plan for 1949, in which letter Mr. Scoville said he could not give his immediate reaction to the proposal of Mr. Borsum in that it might be taken that Mr. Scoville would receive no bonus for 1949.

On August 2, 1949, Mr. Borsum wrote to Mr. Scoville stating that with reference to a bonus plan for 1949, Mr. Scoville was practically assured of a bonus, and invited Mr. Scoville to attend a sales meeting in Omaha, Nebraska on August 8th and 9th, 1949, (this letter was admitted in evidence as the Company's exhibit number 11 (R. 65) ).

During the last part of July or early part of August, Mr. Scoville received a writing which is captioned "Bonus Plan for 1949" (and which was admitted as Mr. Scoville's Exhibit B) (R. 20) setting out certain figures to be paid as a bonus on sales for the year 1949. This was the first written notice received by Mr. Scoville which indicated that the figures to be used by the Company in computing the 1949 bonus would be different than that used to compute the 1948 bonus (R. 19). Mr. Scoville protested several times orally to Mr. Williams and Mr. Borsum about the writing which he received as setting out figures to be used by the Company in computing the 1949 bonus (R. 72, R. 28). Mr. Scoville did not make too active a protest about the 1949 writing because he was afraid of losing his job. He felt that he was too old a man to lose the job and have to go out and hunt for a new one (R. 71).



On January 9, 1950, Mr. Williams, Mr. Borsum and Mr. Scoville attended the Turkey Show in Minneapolis, Minnesota (R. 28). After Mr. Scoville and Mr. Borsum had retired, they had a conversation during which it was said by Mr. Borsum that Mr. Scoville would have to follow the new schedule of the bonus which was issued in August, that if Mr. Scoville took it up with the higher-ups, Mr. Borsum, Mr. Williams and Mr. Scoville would all lose their jobs, that if Mr. Scoville would keep his mouth shut, Mr. Scoville could stay on indefinitely as long as he was doing the job (R. 29). (Also, R. 71, which is not quite as strong.)

On January 10, 1950, Mr. Williams wrote to Mr. Scoville, stating that there would be no bonus plan for 1950, but that Mr. Scoville's wages were raised for the year 1950. (Company's Exhibit 3, admitted in evidence - R. 45).

On January 30, 1950, Mr. Williams wrote to Mr. Scoville enclosing a check drawn in the sum of \$3,544.35, in which it was stated that the amount of the bonus was based on Mr. William's figures, and that such was subject to change. (Admitted in evidence as Company's Exhibit 6 at R. 49). On February 10, 1950, Mr. Williams wrote to Mr. Scoville acknowledging receipt of the check in the sum of \$3,544.35, and stated that the Battle Creek office had been instructed to forward a check less Mr. Scoville's withholding tax. Mr. Williams also stated that a corrected check would be sent as soon as Mrs. Helen L. Scoville's (R. 49) figures had been audited (admitted as the Company's Exhibit 7, R. 50).

On February 3, 1950, while in Billings, Montana, Mr. Scoville became ill (R. 56); he was suffering from high blood pressure (R. 68). He left Billings, Montana and went to Phoenix, Arizona, as prescribed by a doctor (R. 68). He remained in Phoenix, Arizona until April 1, 1950, (R. 68) at which time he returned to Utah and his employment (R. 56).

On February 6, 1950, a check in the sum of \$2,981.92, was drawn by the Company (admitted as the Company's Exhibit 4, at R. 54). This check was endorsed by Mr. Scoville (R. 48).

On April 24, 1950, a check was drawn by the Kellogg Sales Company in the sum of \$1,026.98, upon a Battle Creek, Michigan Bank (admitted as the Company's Exhibit 4, R. 54) which was transmitted by a letter written by Mr. Borsum (R. 51) dated April 25, 1950, which mentioned the check (letter admitted as the Company's Exhibit 8, R. 51). This check was endorsed by Mr. Scoville (R. 48).

On January 1, 1951, Mr. Scoville was retired from the Company (R. 68). Prior to his retirement Mr. Borsum offered Mr. Scoville a position in Ohio, under the terms of which Mr. Scoville was required to sell so many tons of feed every month to stay in the position, if he did not make the sales, he was out of the job (R. 69). On December 30, 1950, Mr. Scoville wrote to Mr. Lyle C. Roll, an employee of the Company, protesting the handling of the bonus for 1949, (letter admitted as the Company's Exhibit 12, R. 67). On January 27, 1951, Mr. Scoville wrote to Mr. Roll, protesting the handling of the

1949 bonus, and denying that the signing of the checks paid by the Company was an acceptance of settlement of his claim. (Letter admitted as the Company's Exhibit 13, R. 68).

At the close of Mr. Scoville's case, the Company, through counsel, renewed its motion to strike the conversations objected to during the trial on the ground that they attempted to vary the terms of the 1948-1949 contracts by parol evidence and the Company's motion to strike statements made by Mr. Borsum on the ground that his conversations would not bind the Company in that he was not an employee of the Company, but the employee of a different Company (R. 84-85). The Company then moved for a dismissal on a directed verdict (R. 85). The court granted the Company's motions to strike the testimony and directed a verdict (R. 87) upon which judgment was entered thereon (R. 93).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

PAROL EVIDENCE OF AN ORAL AGREEMENT WHICH IS SEPARATE AND APART FROM A PRIOR WRITTEN AGREEMENT OR A MODIFICATION OF A PRIOR WRITTEN AGREEMENT MAY BE ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING SUCH PAROL EVIDENCE AS BEING IN VIOLATION OF THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE.

### POINT II

PAROL EVIDENCE TO PROVE A PRIOR ORAL AGREEMENT DIFFERENT IN ITS TERMS FROM A PURPORTED



WRITTEN AGREEMENT IS ADMISSIBLE AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING TESTIMONY ADDUCED TO PROVE THE VERBAL AGREEMENT DIFFERENT IN ITS TERMS FROM THE PURPORTED WRITTEN AGREEMENT, WHICH WAS NEVER ASSENTED TO.

### POINT III

THE TESTIMONY OF MR. SCOVILLE WAS TO THE EFFECT THAT L. C. BORSUM WAS THE SALES MANAGER FOR THE ENTIRE UNITED STATES OF THE KELLOGG SALES COMPANY. CONVERSATIONS BETWEEN THE SAID MR. SCOVILLE AND THE SAID L. C. BORSUM TENDED TO ESTABLISH THE RELATIONSHIP OF A SALESMAN AND HIS SUPERIOR IN THE SAME ORGANIZATION, AND THE DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE INTRODUCED AT TRIAL WAS CONSISTENT WITH AND TENDED TO ESTABLISH THE SAME FACTS AS TESTIFIED TO BY MR. SCOVILLE. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING SUCH TESTIMONY ON THE GROUNDS THAT SUCH WAS NOT BINDING UPON THE KELLOGG SALES COMPANY.

### POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT FOR THE COMPANY AFTER WRONGLY EXCLUDING TESTIMONY WHICH TENDED TO ESTABLISH THE CASE FOR MR. SCOVILLE.

### POINT I

PAROL EVIDENCE OF AN ORAL AGREEMENT WHICH IS SEPARATE AND APART FROM A PRIOR WRITTEN AGREEMENT OR A MODIFICATION OF A PRIOR WRITTEN AGREEMENT MAY BE ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING SUCH PAROL EVIDENCE AS BEING IN VIOLATION OF THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE.

On January 29, 1948, the Company put in writing a bonus plan for the year 1948, called Bulletin 148-3. This bonus plan was to end, be changed or continue at the end of 1948 as per the terms of the writing. On November 4, 1948, Mr. Scoville entered into a conversation with Mr. Borsum from which a reasonable inference might be drawn that the same rate would be used in determining a 1949 bonus. On April 16, 1949, Mr. Scoville, Mr. Borsum, Mr. Williams and Mrs. Scoville had a conversation from which it might be found that the rate used in determining the 1949 bonus would be the same as that used in 1948, and which was accepted. The trial court granted the Company's motion to strike the testimony as to such conversations on the grounds that they altered or varied the written bonus plan for 1948. These conversations either created a new agreement with respect to the 1949 bonus, modified the 1948 writing to include 1949, or were in complete conformity with the 1948 Bulletin.

In January of 1948, Kellogg Sales Company sent out a Bulletin numbered 148-3 which was introduced at the trial as Exhibit A for Mr. Scoville (admitted R. 16) which stated as follows:

"Bulletin 148-3  
Omaha, Nebraska  
January 29, 1948

Field Servicemen:

As we discussed in our meeting at Battle Creek, the bonus plan for 1948 will be as follows. We will credit your account on the basis of \$2.00 per ton allowance on all feed including Sweet Mix

Pellets, but not including Hominy Feed, and charge against your account what is paid to you in the way of salary, expenses, operation of the car and your living expenses, but not including automobile depreciation. At the close of 1948 whatever amount is over will be paid at the end of the year.

Of course this means that we will look at the situation at the end of 1948 and see if this is the best possible bonus arrangement, both from the standpoint of the individual salesman and the Kellogg Company.

W. H. Williams, Jr.  
Sales Manager  
Mixed Feed Dept.  
Omaha Plant

WHW :mc

(s) W. H. W. Jr."

On November 4, 1948, Mr. Leslie Carl Borsum, Sales Manager for the United States for the Company (R. 21), Mr. Scoville and Mrs. Helen Scoville, had breakfast together at Portland, Oregon, while attending the Oregon Fur Show. Mr. Scoville testified as follows:

R. 22:

Q. Will you state, Mr. Scoville, the best you can recall what was said by yourself, or Mr. Borsum, or by your wife?

MR. AADNESEN: Just a minute, a question on voir dire.

VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION  
BY MR. AADNESEN:

Q. Is this conversation purporting to relate to any bonus plans?

A. I think it does.

MR. AADNESEN: Your Honor, I object to it on the basis it would be parole evidence to attempt to vary any written contracts which are not before this court and upon the further ground it would be inadmissible under the circumstances just discussed with you on the matter it is an attempt to bind Kellogg Sales Company by a statement of Kellogg Company.

MR. CALLISTER: If the court please, it is no attempt to vary a written contract, it is an attempt to vary one not received until July or August, 1949. This conversation took place the latter part of 1948.

THE COURT: The objection is overruled.

Q. (BY MR. CALLISTER) Do you recall my last question, Mr. Scoville?

A. What was said at the breakfast table, is that correct?

Q. That is correct.

A. Well, I had sent Mr. Borsum a letter on what I figured I would do in the year 1949 and he asked me if I honestly thought I would sell 500 cars of feed and I told him the figures absolutely showed that way.

And he said, "That is a lot of feed."

I said: "I know it, and it is going to mean a lot of hard work," and I said: "With the bonus figured the way they are now, I am also going to make a lot of money, around \$30,000.00."

He said he didn't see any reason why the bonus should be changed at that time, there

was nothing that should be changed in the setup for 1949. He also stated the thing he would want me to do, when I got my bonus, was to buy a home and settle down in it. I had been traveling too much.

He said: "I think if you would spend about \$4,000.00 for a home it would be adequate for you and Helen to live in." (R. 24).

Mrs. Helen L. Scoville testified with respect to certain conversations as follows:

R. 76, 77, 78:

Q. Mrs. Scoville, you have heard your husband testify to a conversation that took place late in November or early in December, 1948 at the Multnomah Hotel in Portland, Oregon?

A. Yes.

Q. Between Mr. Scoville and Mr. Borsum and yourself?

A. That is right.

Q. Will you relate what was said at that conversation between the parties present?

A. Well, I think I can relate —

MR. AADNESEN: Of course my objection will be renewed to this, may I request the record show any conversations that may be brought out, my objection goes to them and subject to my motion to strike made heretofore, and kept under advisement until arguments?

THE COURT: Yes.

Q. (BY MR. CALLISTER) Will you relate the conversation?



- A. As nearly as I can recall, of course, we had all been interested in the two-dollar-per-ton bonus because it meant quite a lot to us.

This morning, under discussion at the breakfast table, at the Multnomah, between Mr. Borsum, Mr. Scoville and myself, they were talking about tonnage.

Mr. Scoville told Mr. Borsum the approximate tonnage for 1949, and it was at this fox and mink show, and, of course, our discussion on the tonnage was in regard to turkey business in this section of the country, and Mr. Scoville told Mr. Borsum it would be close to 500 cars of feed. And Mr. Borsum said: "Well, that was an awful lot of feed, and if it was possible to sell that much out here, Mr. Scoville would certainly be justified in having some help."

Mr. Scoville said yes he would try to manage it alone until late summer or early fall, then he would like to have help, and he called attention to the fact —

MR. AADNESEN: I object to it, I think counsel should ask questions and have them answer. We are getting an extraneous matter in here.

- Q. (BY MR. CALLISTER) State who said what.

- A. Mr. Scoville said: "Mr. Borsum, this will run into quite a lot of bonus for us, this \$2.00 per ton."

MR. AADNESEN: I would like at this time to have questions and answers so we can make objections if we desire.

Q. (BY MR. CALLISTER) What did Mr. Borsum say to that?

A. They were interested in the feed business, the volume of the feed business, he realized we would get quite a bonus out of it, and the tonnage had been up to that time 500 cars, which would net us about \$30,000.00.

He emphatically stated he would like very much for us to find a home somewhere and buy it, he thought a \$4,000.00 home would be adequate for us. (R. 78).

On April 16, 1949, while Mr. Scoville, Mr. Leslie Carl Borsum and Mr. W. H. Williams, an employee of the Kellogg Sales Company, (R. 24) were attending a sales meeting (R. 24) in Omaha, Nebraska, these gentlemen and Mrs. Scoville met in Mr. Scoville's hotel room. At this time a conversation took place about which Mr. Scoville testified as follows:

R. 25-26:

Q. And will you state when and where that conversation took place, and who was present?

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