1953

R. M. Scoville v. Kellogg Sales Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent agrees with appellant's statement of facts where such are facts and not arguments or mere conclusions. Because of the length of the facts set out, we believe it will serve the interest and convenience of the court to refrain from restating all of the facts but to merely point out a few of the following:

On page 4 in the last sentence in the first paragraph, the word "building" should be "billing."

In the first paragraph on page 5, Mr. Leslie Carl Borsum should be designated as an employee of Kellogg Company, (R. 84) and that appellant testified that Mr.

Borsum was sales manager for the U. S. for Kellogg Sales Company.

In all three paragraphs on page 5, appellant indulges in arguments and conclusions by stating that reasonable inferences "could be," "can be" and "may be" drawn from the respective conversations. The conversations are set out in the record and the briefs and speak for themselves. In like manner the last paragraph beginning on page 5 and ending on page 6 contains the statement that an inference may be drawn from a letter written July 24, 1949. This letter (Exhibit 10) speaks for itself.

In the last paragraph on page 6, the statement that Mr. Scoville protested several times orally to Mr. Williams and Mr. Borsum should conform to the record. A more accurate condensation of this would be that Mr. Scoville talked with Mr. Williams several times about the bonus, but what was said about these things would be just short and he couldn't repeat them for the court. (R. 28) He protested in several talks with Mr. Williams and Mr. Borsum in Minneapolis the following January. (R. 72).

The third paragraph on page 8 should state the check for \$1,026.98 transmitted by the letter dated April 25, 1950, was specified in the letter as representing the balance due on Mr. Scoville's bonus for 1949.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1

THE COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED PAROL EVIDENCE OFFERED BY APPELLANT TO VARY, MODIFY OR CONTRADICT A WRITTEN INSTRUMENT.

POINT 2

THE COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED CERTAIN TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESS, BORSUM, ON THE GROUND SUCH TESTIMONY WAS NOT BINDING UPON KELLOGG SALES COMPANY.

POINT 3

THE COURT PROPERLY DIRECTED A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT AND AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF

POINT I

THE COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED PAROL EVIDENCE OFFERED BY APPELLANT TO VARY, MODIFY OR CONTRADICT A WRITTEN INSTRUMENT.

Respondent respectfully points out to this court that Points I and II of appellant's brief are diametrically opposed to each other and so inconsistent as to preclude relief under either. Because of this inconsistency, we will discuss Points I and II of appellant's brief together.

We do not quarrel with appellant's authorities cited in Point I which support the rule that a *subsequent agreement* may be shown by parol evidence to vary or modify a written instrument. *Parker vs. Weber County Irr. Dist.*, 65 Utah 354, 236 Pac. 1105 (Utah 1925); *Hogan vs. Swayze*, 65 Utah 380, 237 Pac. 1097 (Utah 1925); 32 C. J. S., Section 1004, at page 1008. Under Point I appellant apparently claims that the alleged conversations were admissible because they were made prior to the 1949 written instrument and were made to modify, vary or contradict the 1948 bonus plan, yet he seeks to recover on the terms of the 1948 written instrument on

the theory that such instrument remained in effect for him for services performed in 1949.

In Point II he asserts that such conversations were admissible, though prior to the receipt and acknowledgment of the 1949 instrument, to show that a different agreement existed between the parties than was represented in the 1949 instrument. In other words, parol evidence or conversations prior in time to the 1949 instrument were purportedly admissible to show that Scoville, the appellant and plaintiff, had never assented to the 1949 agreement before it was written and, therefore, the conversations were admissible to abrogate the same.

We submit that the following facts are undisputed in the record. First, that the 1949 written instrument, called the 1949 Bonus Plan, was received and acknowledged by Scoville in 1949. Second, that Scoville received a statement of his account and payments under the 1949 bonus plan. Third, that the conversations designated in Point I as admissible were made *prior* to the receipt of the 1949 written instrument.

Considering the assertion that the alleged conversations related to the 1948 instrument, we cite from the general rule given as authority by appellant and contained in 32 C. J. S., Section 1004 at pages 1009-10.

“ * * * It must appear, however, that there *was a subsequent agreement, mere negotiations or representations* being insufficient; and it is usually necessary that such subsequent agreement be founded on a consideration, although a contrary view has been asserted. * * * ” (italics ours.)

The conversations Mr. Scoville testified to and relied upon by *inference* to alter, vary or contradict a written instrument speak for themselves. Here are the pertinent parts:

At breakfast in Portland Mr. Borsum allegedly said:

"He said: 'He didn't see any reason why the bonus *should* be changed at that time, there was nothing that *should* be changed in the setup, for 1949. He also stated the thing he would want me to do, when I got my bonus, was to buy a home and settle down in it. I had been traveling too much.

"He said: 'I think if you would spend about \$4,000.00 for a home it would be adequate for you and Helen to live in.' " (R. 23-24.) (*italics ours*)

In the hotel room in Omaha, Nebraska, the pertinent parts of the conversation as related by Mr. Scoville were:

"I asked both Mr. Borsum and Mr. Williams, if they thought I had about enough turkey contracts in this territory.

"And Mr. Williams stated I should go ahead and sell all the contracts I could. He could make the feed. He was in charge of the Omaha Plant.

"I said: 'You are also going to pay me a lot of bonus too.'

"He said: 'We have got money to pay the bonus, you sell the feed.'

"Then we left the room and started downstairs.

"Q. Who left the room?

"A. Mr. Borsum, Mr. Williams and myself left the room to go downstairs.

"I said: 'Bill, it will take a lot of feed, and I will get a lot of bonus, it is pretty near time to shut off out there.'

"He said: 'We will take care of you, Kellogg has got plenty of money and we will make the feed.' " (R. 25-26)

Mrs. Scoville testified about the same conversation in general terms. (R. 79)

Appellant claims that these statements, made prior to the 1949 written instrument, infer "that there would be a bonus for the year 1949 and that such bonus would be computed at the rate of \$2.00 per ton of feed sold as which [sic] is the same rate provided in the agreement of 1948."

We agree that the parties inferred that there would be a bonus for 1949. The only conclusion that *can* be reached is that a bonus plan for 1949 *was anticipated*. The last paragraph of the 1948 bonus plan specifically so provides:

"Of course this means that we will look at the situation at the end of 1948 and see if this is the best possible bonus arrangement, both from the standpoint of the individual salesman and the Kellogg Company."

To designate a statement made by one of the parties that he "saw no reason why the bonus *should* be changed *at that time*" as having the effect of an offer that it *wouldn't* be changed *in the future* does violence to even

an inference. It is interesting to note that whenever Mr. Scoville mentioned a sum of \$30,000.00, the other party returned with a statement similar to "he emphatically stated he would like very much for us to find a home somewhere and buy it, he thought a \$4,000.00-home would be adequate for us." (R. 24, 78) Similarly, no inference such as appellant seeks can be found in either the statement "You are going to pay me a lot of bonus too" or the answer "We have got money to pay the bonus, you sell the feed." Although Mrs. Scoville was not a party to the agreement, she testified that the conversation just referred to took place *prior* to the time the 1949 bonus plan was received by her husband.

If we must indulge in inferences in an attempt to vary a written instrument, the most that can be inferred is that a plan for 1949 was expected to be announced some time in 1949. Mrs. Scoville knew her husband received or had received the 1949 bonus plan in July or August of 1949 and she had read it. (R. 79-80)

She also knew that it had been discussed and anticipated:

"I know there was a lot of quibble, a lot of quibble going on the latter part of July about the payment of this. It is possible Mr. Scoville did get a letter from them with reference to it, but this did not come out until after the correspondence in July was concluded." (R. 80)

We respectfully submit to this court that all conversations upon which appellant attempted to rely refer to the 1949 written instrument providing for a bonus plan in that year, and nowhere in the record is there any affirmative evidence of a promise or offer of

anything different. The most comfort appellant can glean from such conversations would be that they were "merely negotiations or representations," and such are insufficient to establish any substantial "agreement." 32 C. J. S. Section 1004, pp. 1008-10.

In the case of *Hogan vs. Swayze*, *supra*, the elementary rule is given:

"It may be said in passing, however, that the rule that parol evidence is inadmissible to vary the terms of a plain, unambiguous instrument, in writing, is elementary in this and every other jurisdiction of the country."

By plaintiff's very pleading and testimony, he seeks to recover on the theory that the bonus plan for 1949 received in July or August of that year was varied, changed or modified by *prior* oral conversations or agreements, and thus it did not apply to him. It is the terms of the 1949 bonus plan that plaintiff seeks to escape and in open court so stated as shown by the record at page 23, set out in appellant's brief at page 13:

"MR. CALLISTER: If the court please, it is no attempt to vary a written contract, it is an attempt to vary one not received until July or August, 1949. This conversation took place the latter part of 1948."

It should not now be counsel's pleasure to say he did not mean what he said.

The 1948 bonus plan expired at the end of 1948, and Mr. Scoville was paid according thereto for his serv-

ices for that year. As set out heretofore, the 1948 bonus plan specifically stated that it was the bonus plan for 1948 and that it would be reexamined at the end of that year.

Subsequent to the conversations testified to by Mr. Scoville, the 1949 writing was sent to Mr. Scoville who acknowledged receipt of it (R. 18, 19, 32, 56, 62, 63). He thereafter acknowledged a statement of his accounts and payments in accordance with such writing and made no formal protest until some seventeen months after he received it. This bonus plan was admitted into evidence without objection as Mr. Scoville's Exhibit "B" and in part provides as follows:

"It is the company's desire to be fair to its employees, to its stockholders, and to the company itself.

"It is management's thinking that each man is worthy of his hire, but we do have certain limitations which we must consider on an all over basis insofar as the company is concerned.

"The bonus plan covered in Bulletin #148-3 dated January 29, 1948 expired as of December 31, 1948. The bonus plan for 1949 which we feel is fair to all concerned is as follows:

CREDIT TOWARD BONUS

First 2,000 tons of feed sold (hog, cattle, turkey and poultry)	.50 per ton allowance
Balance of financed feed sold	1.00 per ton allowance

All non-financed feeds
sold

2.00 per ton allowance

"Against your bonus credit will be charged your territory expense and salary. We feel that the above bonus plan is an equitable one as far as the company and the salesmen are concerned, especially when you consider that most of the salesmen in the feed department are now members of the Kellogg Sales Company Savings Plan and participate in the profits of the company.

* * *

"The above bonus plan covers 1949 operation only."

* * *

There is no ambiguity in this statement, "The bonus plan covered in Bulletin #148-3 dated January 29, 1948 expired as of December 31, 1948." The only purported conversation testified to *after* the bonus plan for 1949 was received by him allegedly took place in Minneapolis on January 9, 1949, when the following was said:

"A. Mr. Borsum told me I would have to follow the new schedule of the bonus which was issued in August, that he had sent out, and that he didn't think it was a good thing that I should make any trouble about it or say anything, or discuss it, because that is the way it was and that is the way it had to be.

"That if anything was said, if I took it up with the higher-ups both him and Mr. Williams and myself would all lose our jobs, and if I kept my

mouth shut I could stay on indefinitely as long as I was doing the job." (R. 29)

Here certainly is no protest nor does it indicate anything but an acceptance of the 1949 writing, and the subsequent events confirm such acceptance. A letter dated January 10, 1950 was written by Mr. Williams to Mr. Scoville. It is designated as Exhibit "3" and provides:

"Dear Ray:

"We are discontinuing the Bonus Plan which was in effect in 1949 and we will not have a Bonus Plan for 1950.

"We are advancing your salary effective January 1, 1950 from \$325.00 per month to \$375.00 per month.

"This will confirm our recent conversation."

It is apparent from this letter that the company and Mr. Williams had considered the bonus plan for 1949 in effect, for it was specifically discontinued. Thereafter, on January 30, 1950, Mr. Williams wrote to Mr. Scoville enclosing a check for his bonus for the year 1949 and a statement of the sales and calculations. The letter (Exhibit "6") is only two paragraphs long, and for the convenience of the court we cite these two paragraphs:

"Dear Ray:

"Please find enclosed our check in the amount of \$3544.35 to cover Bonus for the year 1949. Also find enclosed a statement showing the feed sales, whether financed or non-financed, and the calculation based on the Bonus Plan for 1949.

"It was necessary to go ahead and clean this matter up based on the figures we have, but subject to revision, if the figures which you are sending prove ours to be incorrect. We will appreciate having you forward Helen's figures as soon as possible so we can check this out, but we did have to close our books for 1949 and that is the reason for going ahead and making the calculation."

It is apparent the check and statement were for payment under the 1949 bonus plan. In fact, Exhibit "7", a letter written February 10, 1950 acknowledges receipt of the check, for Mr. Scoville had returned it due to an error in the deduction of withholding tax. Mr. Scoville does not deny the circumstances surrounding the letter. In fact, he admitted having the original. (R. 49-50).

On February 6, 1950, a check in the amount of \$2,981.92 representing the amount of the previous check less withholding tax was drawn payable to Scoville and received, endorsed and cashed by him. (R. 51-52). On April 25, 1950 a letter was sent to Mr. Scoville enclosing a check in the amount of \$1,026.88 representing the balance due on his bonus for 1949. (Exhibit "8"). Mr. Scoville was praised for his work for 1949, and told that the company had a great deal of money outstanding on his accounts in this area and that they were going to hold him responsible for getting the money in. The following statement in that letter requires no further explanation:

"Attached find check in the amount of \$1,026.88 representing balance due on your bonus for 1949."

Exhibit "9" is a statement of Mr. Scoville's account under the 1949 plan. It was the subject of some controversy, but Mr. Scoville admitted receiving a statement of his accounts and for feed tonnage (R. 52) and that Exhibit "9" may or may not be the statement he received. (R. 53). Subsequently he adopted the figures therein as his own and the exhibit was admitted in evidence (R. 74). Mr. Scoville accepted the checks, endorsed and cashed them. Thereafter no protest, complaint nor demands of any kind were made by Mr. Scoville until December 30, 1950, the day before his retirement became effective. Appellant alleges in his brief that Mr. Scoville protested several times orally to Mr. Williams concerning the 1949 writing (appellant's brief 24-25). The record shows what is relied on for a positive protest *orally* in the excerpted references to the record.

"Q. Now, after receiving that bulletin, Exhibit B, did you enter a protest or talk with any of the officials of the company?

"A. Not at the — I wrote them a letter at that time but there was nothing more said about it.

"Q. Did you ever have any conversation with Mr. Williams subsequently to the time you received that bonus — that exhibit?

"A. Well, Mr. Williams and I talked a lot of times whenever he was with me, about the bonus, but what was said about these things would just be very short and I can't repeat it." (R. 28)

* * *

"Q. I am asking, and you have told me, it is

you were afraid of losing your job was the reason you didn't protest before, — I am asking if there were any other reasons you didn't make active protest?

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